1958

Harry Child aka Henry Child v. Eugene A. Child and Arvilla Child : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent, Harry Child, hereinafter sometimes referred to as Mr. Child, testified as follows:

That he resides at 6300 South 325 East, which is south of Bountiful. The land in controversy, 19.25 acres, hereinafter sometimes referred to as 20 acres, lies south and east of his residence and at a higher elevation. (Tr. 5-6). He first became interested in the 20 acres in 1941 or 1942. He was asked what he wanted the land for. He answered that he wanted to put a reservoir there,

for one thing, and store water that was going to waste. Also, he could use the land to pasture his cows. (Tr. 7).

Respondent wrote to the owner of the land, Mrs. Griffiths, who resided in California, to inquire if she desired to sell the property. She told him to see Mr. R. O. Warnock in the Kearns Building (Tr. 8). Respondent offered Mrs. Griffiths \$300.00, or \$15.00 an acre, through Mr. Warnock. Mrs. Griffiths refused the offer. Respondent learned in 1945 that Mrs. Griffiths had died. (Tr. 9). He again contacted Mr. Warnock, who told him he could buy the land for \$300.00. He gave Mr. Warnock \$25.00 as a deposit and agreed to pay the balance of \$275.00 upon receipt of the deed from California (Tr. 11).

Respondent went to Bountiful State Bank to borrow \$275.00. He was told a loan would be made if he would pledge certain water stock for security (Tr. 12). His wife, Hazel Child, had shares of water stock belonging to Respondent, but refused to deliver the water stock to him (Tr. 12-13). She told him to sell some of his cows to raise the purchase money.

The following question and the following answer were asked and given:

“Q. Did you agree to sell some cows to raise the money?

A. No, I did not, because the cows were part of my program.

Respondent knew that Appellant, Eugene A. Child, who was away in the Navy, had money in a joint bank account in his name and his mother's name. Respondent

requested Hazel Child to lend him some of Eugene's money. She stated she could not lend Eugene's money. (Tr. 13). She wrote to Eugene to ask if he would lend money to Respondent. Respondent stated that she apparently got word back that it was OK, but he never saw the letter. He got \$275.00 from his wife. He was asked where she got the \$275.00 and he stated that he understood she got the money from Eugene's account, but he was uncertain (Tr. 14).

After getting the money, Respondent and his wife drove to Salt Lake City. He left the car on First South and Main Street after she gave him the money and went to Warnock's office in the Kearns Building. He stated that she would not give him the money until he promised to put the property in Eugene's name to secure the loan. He gave Warnock \$275.00 and received a deed to the 19.25 acres. The deed was marked Exhibit 1 and introduced in evidence.

When he returned to the car, his wife asked for the deed (Tr. 16). He told her the deed was made out in his name and he would have to have a deed made to Eugene, because he had promised her he would do so to secure the loan. They drove around to Second South to Mr. Toronto's office. Toronto made out a deed from Respondent and his wife to Eugene (Tr. 17). This deed was marked Exhibit 2 and introduced in evidence (Tr. 18).

Respondent had the 19.25 acres surveyed and built a fence around it (Tr. 18). It took probably three years

to build the fence (Tr. 19). Eugene went out once with him to get railroad ties to put into the fence (Tr. 20). Respondent stated that he paid taxes on the land for 1946, but wasn't certain about the 1945 taxes. Thereafter, he paid no more taxes. The tax notices were issued in Eugene's name (Tr. 20).

Respondent had an abstract of title to the land made. He staked cows and a horse on the land until the fence was completed (Tr. 21). After Eugene returned from the Service, Respondent asked him when he was going to deed the property back. Eugene wouldn't discuss with him the matter of his paying the loan back. This refusal to discuss the matter persisted up until the suit was filed (Tr. 22).

On cross-examination, Respondent testified as follows: The following questions and the following answers were asked and given:

“Q. Mr. Child, isn't it true that when Mrs. Child wrote the letter to Gene and asked him whether or not he would lend some of his money to you that you received the answer—went and got it from the Postman, didn't you?

A. No. (Tr. 22)

Q. You didn't ever see the letter?

A. I never saw the letter.

Q. Did Mrs. Child ever tell you what was in the letter?

A. I don't recall her telling me what was in the

letter, other than that Eugene would loan me the money on the condition that I put the property in his name to secure the loan. That was my understanding of what was in the letter.

Q. When did that letter arrive?

A. Well, it must have arrived sometime about that time — in the Spring of 1945. I don't remember the date.

Q. In fact, you got it from the Postman the morning you took your wife to Salt Lake City?

A. No, I never got the letter from the Postman.

Q. Calling your attention to the morning of April 16, 1945, the day the deed was purchased, you went into the kitchen of the home where your wife and your son, Brant, were present and you had in your hand the envelope, didn't you?

A. No, never. I don't ever remember seeing the letter.

Q. You have no recollection of that?

A. No recollection of that.

Q. You have no recollection of Mrs. Child reading the letter at that time and saying to you, 'Why, Gene says he will not lend you any money.' You have no recollection of that?

A. No, absolutely none.

Q. And also telling you at the same time that you still had time to go and sell a couple of cows if you wanted to buy the property that day? (Tr. 23)

A. Yes. She told me to go and sell cows, yes.

Q. That day?

A. I wouldn't say that day. It might have been that day, but she said to sell some cows.

Q. Do you have a recollection of the very day that you bought that property, Mrs. Child told you to go and sell a couple of cows and get the money if you wanted to buy that property?

A. She told me to go and sell cows to get the property, but a couple of cows wouldn't have brought enough money to buy the property or pay the balance, and not only that, I didn't have any cows that I wanted to sell. That was part of my plan.

Nothing was said about paying Eugene back or the rate of interest (Tr. 24). Since that time, April 16, 1945, he has never offered to pay Eugene back, because there was nothing said about it. He has tried to talk to Eugene about it, but Eugene would not discuss it (Tr. 25).

Respondent admitted that when his deposition was taken in October of 1956 he testified that he had never paid any taxes on the property, but stated that later he found a receipt for taxes he paid in 1946. He never said anything to Eugene about the taxes, but supposed Eugene was paying them. He always checked the delinquent tax list in the Davis County Clipper. Never at any time from 1947 to 1956 had he offered to pay the taxes (Tr. 26). He naturally supposed Eugene was paying the taxes (Tr. 27).

Eugene has told him repeatedly that he wasn't ever going to deed the property back. He couldn't remember exactly how long it was after Eugene got home before he told him that he would never deed the property back. It could be a month or more, but he has known since 1946 that Eugene had no intention of ever deeding the property back to him.

In 1952 he made a loan to Eugene and his brother, Brant. At the time the loan was made, nothing was said about paying off on the 19.25 acres (Tr. 31-32).

He had been advised to have a lawsuit over the 19.25 acres, but didn't want to drag the thing into Court, because it would mean trouble in the family (Tr. 35).

Plaintiff rested.

Hazel Marie Child was called and testified as follows: She is the divorced wife of the Respondent and the mother of Eugene A. Child. Prior to April, 1945, Respondent had told her he had taken an option which expired April 16, 1945, on approximately 20 acres of land lying east and south of her home for a purchase price of \$300.00. He asked her for water stock belonging to him and which she held. She refused to give him the water stock. She had obtained it when she paid off an obligation owing by Respondent and herself to Respondent's sister, Martha, with money she had earned and saved to pay the debt off, because Respondent refused to pay the debt and always stated that his sister didn't need the money when she requested repayment. (Tr. 37-38).

When Respondent asked her to lend him some of

Eugene's money, she told him she could not do so until she got Eugene's permission, because Gene had told her not to lend him any money for anything when he went into the Navy.

At Respondent's request, she wrote an airmail letter to Eugene and asked him to answer back airmail. She was asked to state the contents of the letter and gave the following answer:

"I wrote and asked Gene if he wanted to loan his Dad the \$300.00 for the land, and I said, 'If you don't want to loan it and your Dad don't want to buy it, do you want to buy it for yourself, because I think it is a good proposition.'

Concerning the receipt of his answer, witness testified as follows:

"A. Well, Mr. Child was very anxious to get that letter. It was the last day, the 16th of April when his option was up, so he went down to the Post Office to be there when the Post Office opened, and the mail carrier had already gone on his route, so he followed the mail carrier, which was out to Woods Cross, and got the letter from him and he came back. Well, it may have been between 10:00 and 11:00, and he had the letter out of the envelope in his hand, and he came in the kitchen door and he handed it to me — he didn't hand it — he held it out and he said, 'Go and get the money.' I said, 'Is it all right? Will Gene lend you the money?' He said, 'It's all right; go and get the money.' I said, 'Let me see the letter.' It was out of the envelope. I took the letter and read it. I read it back to him and Gene said, 'I don't want

to loan Dad the money, but if he don't buy the land, I would like to buy the land, if you think it's a good proposition, Mother, but I don't want Dad's name on the deed, because if I buy it I want the land for my own.'

- A. Did you have any conversation that morning about him obtaining the money elsewhere to buy the land?
- A. For a week, I think, I tried to get him to sell some of his cows to buy it. I told him to sell himself a few cows and buy the land and not to bring Gene in on it.
- Q. Did you have any conversation of that nature on the morning that you received the letter?
- A. I certainly did. I said, "You see, if Gene buys the land, it will be Gene's. If you want the land, you had better buy the land yourself." Sell two cows, that's all it would have taken, two cows (Tr. 39). Cows were worth \$200.00 apiece in 1945. At that time Mr. Child had roughly 20. Three or four were in the stable milking and the rest were in the pasture. (Tr. 40)

After the above conversation, respondent said, "Well, come on, we've to get to the bank and get that money, if we're going to buy the land." She answered, "Well, it will be Gene's land, remember, if he buys it." Respondent took her to the bank and she went in and got \$300.00 and they went to Salt Lake. As nearly as she could recollect, they went directly to Toronto's office. Her recollection was that she gave Toronto \$275.00 and

handed Respondent \$25.00. The deed was made and signed there.

About two days after Eugene returned from the Service, he asked his father for his deed to the land. Mr. Child asked, "What deed?" and Eugene said, "To my land that I bought." They then engaged in an argument. Gene always said it was his land when he and his father discussed the matter. Eugene would ask his father, "Why didn't you buy it, if you wanted it?" Respondent would always say that it was his land. (Tr. 42)

Mrs. Child on several occasions told her husband, "You should have bought the land yourself, but it is Gene's."

On cross-examination, Mrs. Child testified as follows: Eugene went into the Service on June 8, 1944. On April 16, 1945, the bank account contained at least \$300.00. From the time Gene was ten years old, he had known what it was to have most of his father's income spent on cows and he had known what it was to go without. He had known what it was for her to go without to keep a bunch of cows. That was one of the reasons Gene did not want to lend his father any money. (Tr. 47)

Mr. Child told her that he had paid \$25.00 down on the land and he would lose it if he didn't buy it by April 16, 1945.

When Respondent and Mrs. Child purchased nine acres for their home in Bountiful in 1930, they borrowed

\$2,250.00 from Mr. Child's sister, Martha. When they sold their home in Salt Lake they paid Martha \$1,200.00 in a lump sum. (Tr. 49) The property was deeded to Martha as security for the loan. (Tr. 50) During five or six years nothing was paid to her. She started asking for her money, stating that she needed it. There was \$650.00 then owing her. Mrs. Child obtained the balance of \$650.00 by picking fruit and selling it and working at the air port and with the money paid off the loan. (Tr. 52)

Mrs. Child was asked whether or not in the letter to Eugene she stated the purchase of the land was a good proposition. She stated, "Yes, I thought it was. That's the reason I tried to get Mr. Child to buy it." (Tr. 56)

Mr. Child brought Eugene's letter home on April 16, 1945. He said he had gotten it from the Postman (Tr. 57). He indicated he had already read the letter. (Tr. 58).

Mr. and Mrs. Child were divorced in 1955.

In the letter sent to Eugene she first stated that she asked Eugene if he wanted to loan the money and then went on and asked him if he wanted to buy the property, if his father did not. She did not ask Mr. Child if he was willing that Eugene buy the land before writing the letter (Tr. 62).

She was asked if the property was placed in Martha's name for security when they borrowed from her, exactly the same as when Mr. Child borrowed the money from

Eugene and the property was required to be put in Eugene's name. She answered, "Mr. Child didn't borrow the money, Eugene bought the property." (Tr. 62-63). At the time she withdrew \$300.00 from the Bountiful Bank they went directly to Salt Lake. It is her recollection that she gave the money to Mr. Child in Mr. Toronto's office (Tr. 64). She did not go to any other office that day, but she did not recollect whether Mr. Child went to another office. She stated that she remembered giving him \$275.00 and that in Toronto's office she remembered turning to him and saying, "Here's your \$25.00." She didn't know whether Mr. Toronto was paid for making the deed (Tr. 65).

She withdrew an even \$300.00 from the bank to take it to Salt Lake. She had no other money. Toronto was a friend of Mr. Child's. She just knew him (Tr. 66). On redirect examination she testified as follows:

In answer to a question propounded by counsel for Respondent, she had stated she was not going to be a go-between — if Gene's money was going to be used, the property would have to be put in Eugene's name. She was asked for what purpose it would have to be put in Gene's name. She answered, "Because Gene was buying it."

The following question and answer were asked and given:

"Q. While you were in Mr. Toronto's office, did Mr. Child say anything about what he would do after Gene came home if the property was put in Gene's name?

- A. "He said, 'He's just a kid. He doesn't know what he's talking about and I'll settle with him when he comes home.'"

She withdrew \$300.00 from the bank and she did not keep any part of it (Tr. 69). She wanted Mr. Child to get rid of all but four milker cows.

Brant Adams Child was called and testified as follows:

He is the son of Respondent and brother of Appellant. He was at home the morning his mother and father had a discussion concerning a letter which had been received from Eugene. He was in the kitchen when his father came in with an open letter in one hand and the contents in another. The following answers and questions were given:

- "A. Well, I remember that Gene did say he had the money there. I don't remember the circumstances. I can't remember exactly what was agreed upon, I just remember that it was all that Dad had been waiting to arrive. It was there and they were discussing it. I remember something about Gene had the \$300.00 available and that the time was running short and Dad said. 'Come on, let's go.'
- Q. Was any mention made of selling cows at that time?
- A. Yes, that was a very, or spoken, or mentioned thing.
- Q. That particular morning was there a conversation?
- A. Yes, I remember Mother saying, 'Why don't you sell some cows and buy it for yourself?'"

On cross-examination he testified: At that time he was 17 years old. His father left early in the morning and returned before noon (Tr. 72). He was interested in the proceedings from the time his father told him the 20 acres was available for purchase. He knew his father was planning to buy it (Tr. 73). He remembered his mother didn't want the water stock mortgaged (Tr. 74). His father and mother had a lot of arguments over the cows. He didn't know what Eugene had stated in the letter concerning whether he would lend the money or whether the money would be used to purchase the property.

Hazel Child was recalled and testified as follows: In April 1945 Mr. Child may have had 20 cows. It was not her desire that he sell all of his cows, merely a part of them (Tr. 76). In answer to a question concerning her attitude toward his keeping his cows, she said, "If it meant taking the money a family needed to live on—we were in constant confusion with the neighbors, with the Sheriff of Bountiful, and the Sheriff of Davis County, confusion all summer long, the neighbors calling and calling about the cows, they were in the garden. They ate up our garden, we expected that, but it was just a continual confusion and fuss and haggle over cows." Mr. Child did not always have enough money to feed his cows (Tr. 77).

Defendant Eugene A. Child was then called and testified as follows: He received a letter from his mother airmail, stating that a parcel of land was up for sale

and that his father wanted to borrow some money to buy it. She stated that she thought it was a good investment, so when he wrote back he told them he wasn't interested in loaning the money, but if his father didn't buy it, he would be glad to buy the land for himself so long as the land was put in his name and was meant for him. He was discharged on June 11, 1946, in San Diego and came directly home. Between the time of the letter mentioned and the time he returned home he did not have any negotiations or dealings in connection with this piece of property (Tr. 81). Within a week after he returned from the Service he started looking for his deed. He walked up to the land and looked it over to see what he had bought. He asked his father where the deed was. His father asked, "What deed?" to which he replied, "The deed to my land up there." His father stated, "Well, that ain't your land, that's my land," to which he replied, "Oh, no, I paid the money. How do you get it that it's your land? When I usually buy something, I figure that it's mine, especially with intent that it's mine." On numerous occasions his father has come to him and wanted to know when he was going to deed the land back to him. He has always told him that it isn't his land. He, the appellant, had paid the full purchase price of it and he intended to buy it for himself. That's the way it was written up in the letter and that's the way he figured it should be. (Tr. 82).

Since his return he has paid all of the taxes. The tax receipts presented by him were marked Exhibit A

and offered and received (Tr. 83). His father has never offered to pay any taxes and he has never asked his father for repayment of the \$300.00. His father never offered to pay \$300.00 for his interest in the property until the time this proceeding started. The offer was made through a letter received from Respondent's lawyer's, stating they would repay the original purchase price plus interest.

The property was not used until 1951 or 1950 and at that time it was fenced by his father and he has pastured cows in it since then. He was asked if he had had any discussion with his father about the use of the property, as far as the cows go. He made the following answer: "Well, no. I have never objected to it. I just as soon see the cows up there fenced in as on somebody else's place tearing it up and having the Sheriff down our neck, and the neighbors, numerous times, the neighbors have been down our neck numerous times about cows being on people's places."

A man removed the top soil from the property under a contract with the Appellant. He received between \$500.00 and \$600.00 for the top soil in 1951 or 1952. It was after the fence was put up. He did not secure his father's consent to the removal of the top soil. His father did not say anything to him about the removal of the top soil that he could remember. He has used the property twice as security for loans. The first was in March of 1953 when he borrowed \$3,500.00 from the Bountiful State Bank. In 1955 he borrowed another

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