1958

Harry Child aka Henry Child v. Eugene A. Child and Arvilla Child : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

14. Respondent has been in beneficial, open, and notorious possession of the property ever since he purchased it. He paid no rent of any kind. Appellants did not object to respondent's use of the land. Respondent, with his own labor and at his sole expense, made the only improvement upon the land. The only treatment of the property by appellant was to commit waste thereupon and also upon property "B" over the express objections of respondent.

15. Respondent undeniably did not intend to convey the beneficial interest in the property to his son.

16. Appellant Eugene Child did not negotiate for the land, did not know the owner's identity, and was never considered by the sellers as the purchaser of the land.

17. It is highly significant that appellant Eugene Child's only contact with the entire matter was his response to respondent's application for a loan.

Contrary to contentions of appellants, it was made abundantly clear at the trial that respondent was never called upon at the time of the divorce action initiated by Hazel Child to list his property. Respondent asks appellants to explain to this Court why respondent should volunteer additional property at the time of the divorce in

order to share it with Hazel Child, through whose mala fides respondent had parted with record title to said property.

Hazel Child testified that Eugene told her before going into the Navy not to loan respondent any money for anything (Tr. 38). But independent testimony introduced after the trial by stipulation (R. 21) shows that at the time Eugene is purported to have left this instruction relative to his bank account, he had a balance in said account of \$8.45. Eugene left for the service in June, 1944. It is doubtful that Eugene was this fearful about his \$8.45 bank balance. This indicates again the general unreliability of Hazel Child's testimony in connection with matters involving her former husband.

Appellants mention the testimony of Brandt Child relative to a letter. Brandt admitted during the trial that he had not read the letter he mentioned and had no knowledge of its contents. He only guessed or "assumed" that the date was April 16, 1945, and he admitted that he was 17 years of age at the time. There is nothing in his testimony connecting any letter he allegedly saw in the hand of the respondent with a letter from Eugene to Hazel Child concerning the property in question. Brandt's recollection that Hazel Child suggested that respondent sell his cows and buy the property with the proceeds does not have the significance suggested by the appellants. Rather, it only indicates again how obstinate was the fixation of his mother relative to those cows. Brandt admitted in his testimony (Tr. 72) that cows was a "... very, or spoken, or mentioned thing," that his father and mother had frequent arguments about the cows, and that his

mother had tried on several occasions to sell the cows. In fact, the letter arrived authorizing the loan; but it was still up to Hazel to go to the bank and withdraw the money, and Hazel just seemingly could not rid her mind of respondent's cows. She satisfied her insistence upon dominance over her husband by requiring him to promise a deed absolute as security for the loan, or suggesting to Eugene that he require said deed as security.

Appellants misrepresent the evidence beginning at the bottom of page 31 of their brief, referring to the cross-examination of respondent. The respondent very clearly and plainly testified that he was unable to relate the mention of selling cows by Hazel Child to the day on which he paid the balance on the property (Tr. 23, 24). Further, respondent testified that two cows would not have brought enough money to purchase the property at that time. After all, a major reason respondent wanted the property was for pasture in his effort to build up a dairy herd, and the appellants find it difficult to understand why respondent did not want to sell the very cows with which he was trying to build a dairy herd and for which he was buying the property.

POINT III

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS THAT THE AMOUNT OF THE LOAN WAS \$275.00 FIND AMPLE SUPPORT IN THE EVIDENCE.

A.

Appellants object, in their point 3, to the findings and conclusions that the amount of the loan to respondent

was \$275.00 rather than \$300.00. Appellants suggest that respondent adheres to the figure \$275.00 because of remarks during the course of the trial by the trial judge. Unfortunately for this argument of appellants, it clearly appears from the transcript that respondent testified that he paid \$25.00 down at the time he accepted Mr. Warnock's offer of the property, that the purchase price of the property was \$300.00, and that the balance due was \$275.00 (Tr. 11). The remarks of the trial judge mentioned by appellants occurred during the cross-examination of Hazel Child (Tr. 55) an hour or more later, and after a recess (Tr. 32).

Appellants admit in their brief, p. 35, that if respondent received \$275.00 of Eugene's money, this is some evidence that Eugene was lending him enough to enable him to pay the balance of the purchase price.

Respondent testified that the balance he owed on the purchase price was \$275.00 (Tr. 11); that he went to Bountiful State Bank to borrow the \$275.00 (Tr. 12); that he asked his wife for his water stock so he could borrow \$275.00 (Tr. 12); that he asked his wife for \$275.00 from the joint bank account (Tr. 13); that he eventually got the \$275.00 from his wife (Tr. 14); and that he gave this \$275.00 to Mr. Warnock for the deed to the property (Tr. 16). Respondent further, answering the trial judge, testified that he did not receive back his down payment of \$25.00 (Tr. 55). Respondent submits that this is ample evidence to support the findings and conclusions that the amount of the loan was \$275.00.

It is interesting to note that Hazel Child's testimony

that she paid this money to Mr. Toronto in Mr. Toronto's office, complete with an account of what was said at the time (Tr. 41, 42), was entirely and completely impeached by the independent testimony of Mr. Warnock. Appellants remark that Hazel Child's testimony in this particular was "hazy." A careful perusal of Hazel Child's testimony shows that it was "hazy" much of the time except when she thought something would be detrimental to respondent, at which times she made sure that her recollections were not "hazy"—even though imaginative.

B.

Appellants captiously object to the findings and conclusions that the amount of the loan was \$275.00, rather than \$300.00 as mentioned in the complaint. Counsel for appellants sufficiently brought out the reason for this himself upon his examination of respondent during the trial (Tr. 105), when the respondent freely admitted that at the time depositions were taken in October, 1956, approximately eight months prior to the trial, he did not remember whether he received \$300.00 or \$275.00 from Hazel Child. It is obvious that respondent was reminded of the \$25.00 down payment he made when asked specifically (Tr. 11) whether or not anything was done to bind the deal when he accepted Mr. Warnock's offer to sell the property to respondent. It is clear, also, that this accords with the view of the trial judge.

Appellants significantly make no claim nor attempt any showing that this variance between the complaint and the evidence has surprised or misled them in any way. As to this variance, in addition to the above, respondent

relies upon the familiar rule that an immaterial variance, with no showing of prejudice to the appellants' case, is not reversible error. This rule is so ancient and well-known that it needs no citation of authority.

Further, respondent relies upon the equally familiar rule that an appellate court will not reverse where an appellant raises a question for the first time on appeal that should have been presented to the trial court, particularly in the absence of any showing of prejudice to the appellant's case. Appellants should have objected below to the introduction of evidence showing the amount of the loan as \$275.00 rather than \$300.00, in order that respondent could move to amend the complaint to conform to the evidence. In fact, counsel for appellants elicited some of the evidence himself to which he now objects ('Tr. 108'). In addition, it is submitted that appellants should have submitted this matter to the trial court under *Rule 52 (b)*, U.R.C.P. Appellants failed to take these steps below, and their present objections come too late.

POINT IV

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW THAT THERE WAS A BREACH OF A CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RESPONDENT AND HAZEL AND EUGENE CHILD ARE WITHIN THE ISSUES AND ARE ADEQUATELY SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

Appellants first complain that there is no allegation in the complaint of a confidential relationship. Appellants, however, fail to allege or make any showing at all that they were surprised, misled, or prejudiced in any way

because confidential relationship of the parties was not specifically pleaded. On the contrary, all the evidence shows that appellants were fully apprised concerning the case and its ramifications at the trial. This complaint is therefore without merit.

The burden of appellants' argument that the facts do not show the existence of a confidential relation is to the effect that neither Hazel nor Eugene had confidence in respondent. Respondent wishes to point out that this argument is immaterial, for it was the confidence respondent had in Hazel and Eugene Child that was breached. It is sufficient that the confidence goes from the one who trusts to the ones who breach; it is not required that those who breach have confidence also in the one who trusts.

Respondent states in his testimony that he had confidence in Hazel (Tr. 15), for he said that he did not think she would deliver to him any different sum from that he requested. He accepted and relied fully upon her representations that Eugene would grant the loan on condition that Eugene have record title as security. On her representations, respondent was induced to part with record title; and this alone is sufficient to show respondent's trust and confidence in his wife and son. That Hazel in turn had confidence in him is shown by the fact that she delivered over the money upon his oral promise to deed to Eugene as security.

That respondent had confidence in Eugene is shown by evidence that he loaned Eugene and Brandt \$1200.00 without security and after the transaction here in question (Tr. 28, 31, 103, 104), as well as by the fact that he

willingly conveyed title to Eugene for security as he promised to do. As noted above, Hazel's testimony that Eugene told her before leaving for the Navy not to loan any of his money to his father (Tr. 38) is shown to be most highly improbable by the stipulated evidence (R. 21) showing that at the time Eugene had only about \$8.45 in the joint account with his mother. Also, Eugene himself testified that he and his father were on good terms in 1945 (Tr. 98), and that he and his father trust one another (Tr. 104).

This Court, in *Perry v. McConkie* (1953), 1 U.2d 189, 264 P.2d 852, 854, states that where a fiduciary relationship exists, because of the kinship of the parties, the fiduciary has the burden of proving that his dealings with the beneficiary are fair and in good faith. In that case, there appears to be far less evidence of confidence placed by the sister in her brothers than there is evidence of misplaced confidence in the present case. This Court also found confidential family relationships in *Anderson v. Cercone* (1919), 54 U. 345, 180 P. 586; *Haws v. Jensen* (1949), 116 U. 212, 209 P.2d 229; and *Hawkins v. Perry* (1953), 123 U. 16, 253 P.2d 372.

POINT V

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW NO. 6 AND NO. 7 ARE WITHIN THE ISSUES OF THE CASE AND ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

Appellants complain that Conclusions of Law No. 6 and No. 7 are not within the issues of the case and are contrary to the evidence. Their argument states that the

subject-matter of these conclusions (unjust enrichment and constructive fraud) is not expressly mentioned in the complaint, and their sole comment about the evidence relative to these matters is confined to unjust enrichment.

The allegations of the complaint are in essence that respondent borrowed money from Eugene Child through his mother, Hazel Child, to purchase certain property; that he purchased this property and thereafter placed title thereto in the name of Eugene as security; that respondent received the money only as a loan; that respondent did not intend to part with beneficial ownership of the land; that all parties to the transaction intended the deed to be a mortgage; in the alternative that Eugene Child, knowing the mind and intentions of respondent, did not intend to hold the property for the benefit of respondent and return title to him; and that appellants wrongfully refused to reconvey to respondent upon demand and offer of repayment. These allegations adequately present the factual situation which was the basis of the action and sufficiently raise as issues the relationship of the various persons named and their actions with respect to the transaction, as well as the question whether or not Eugene lawfully held the property in question. The actions of the parties being in issue, their constructively fraudulent actions must necessarily be also. The issue whether or not Eugene lawfully held the property certainly included reasons at law why he did not lawfully so hold, including unjust enrichment.

There is no complaint or showing by appellants that they were misled in any way by the complaint. On the contrary, a reading of the transcript shows that both

sides were fully apprised of the situation giving rise to the action; and it affirmatively appears in the transcript that appellants took the deposition of respondent prior to the trial, at which time they of course had full opportunity to explore and develop respondent's facts. The record is devoid of a motion for a more definite statement; therefore it is plain that appellants did not need one, being fully apprised.

Rebutting appellants' comments on the evidence relative to unjust enrichment, the *Restatement of Restitution*, Sec. 160, comment d, points out that restitution is made in such cases to ". . . restore to the plaintiff property of which he has been unjustly deprived and to take from the defendant property the retention of which by him would result in a corresponding unjust enrichment of the defendant; in other words the effect is to prevent a loss to the plaintiff and a corresponding gain to the defendant, and to put each of them in the position in which he was before the defendant acquired the property." Appellant's do not deny that it was respondent who wanted to buy the property, sought out the owner, investigated its value, negotiated for its purchase over a period of four years, and finally purchased it; who built with his own labor and paid for a substantial fence around the property; who has continuously and without objection used and occupied the property ever since he bought it; and who has continuously and without exception claimed the property as his own ever since.

Respondent testified, and the trial court found, that he delayed his application to the courts for redress in an unsuccessful attempt to preserve his family unity and

harmony. But he immediately applied to the courts when his family was disrupted by divorce at the instance of his wife, Hazel, and when he learned of acts by Eugene Child derogatory to respondent's beneficial ownership of the property (Tr. 116, 117). He patiently tried for all the intervening years to talk to Eugene, hoping to persuade him to reconvey the property amicably, but Eugene refused to talk with him about it. Throughout, respondent's interest has been to develop a dairy herd for the benefit of the family.

In contrast, what of Eugene? Eugene Child had no interest in nor knowledge of the property or its value. He did not search out the owner and try to buy it. He did not negotiate for its purchase. His sole contact therewith was his response to his father's application to him for a loan. He knew no reason at the trial why his father should give him any preference to the property over the other children in the family. He did not develop the property, nor use it except to commit waste by removal of soil. He simply returned home from the service and found himself, because of the wrong either of Hazel alone or of Hazel and Eugene jointly, the record owner of a large tract of land. It is safe to conclude that Eugene's determination not to reconvey was in direct proportion to the rising value of the property. The lower court properly concluded that Eugene would be unjustly enriched were he allowed to retain the property.

POINT VI

RESPONDENT'S RECOVERY IS NOT BARRED
BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS NOR BY
LACHES.

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